



This report was produced by Age Cymru in partnership with Swansea University's Graduate Support Programme, utilising Welsh Government funding via the Higher Education Funding Council for Wales (HEFCW)

# Older people in Wales: facts and statistics

### September 2021

#### Contents

1	Population in Wales	3
2	Older people aged 90+ (including centenarians)	3
3	Population in local authorities in Wales	. 4
4	Population projections in Wales	. 5
5	Life expectancy	5
5.1	At birth in Wales	5
5.2	Life expectancy at age 65 in Wales	7
6	Within the older population	. 8
6.1	Welsh language	8
6.2	Diversity	. 9
7	Loneliness	10
8	Fraud / Scams	10
9	Money matters, poverty and benefits	11
9.1	Fuel poverty	11
10	Economic contribution and employment	12
11	Health	12
11.	I General health issues	12
11.2	2 Ageing well	12
11 '	R. Health in later life	12

11.4	Eyesight	. 14
11.5	Hearing	. 14
11.6	Musculoskeletal conditions (MSK)	. 14
11.7	Falls	. 15
12	Dementia	. 15
13	End of life care	. 16
14	Winter mortality	. 16
15	Age discrimination	. 16
16	Older carers	. 17
17	Abuse of older people	. 18
18	Access to services	. 18
18.1	Access to community services	. 18
18.2	Advocacy services	. 20
18.3	Experience of GP and hospital services	. 20
18.4	Residential care	. 21
18.5	Transport	. 21
18.6	Digital inclusion	. 21
18.7	Housing	. 22
19	COVID-19	. 22
19.1	Access to information about COVID-19	. 22
19.2	Mental and physical health	. 22
19.3	Health and social care	. 23
19.4	Abuse of older people	. 23
19.5	Unpaid older carers	. 24
19.6	Working from home	. 24
19.7	Older people affected by dementia	. 25
Refe	rences	. 26

# 1 Population in Wales

- In 2020, an estimated 3,169,586 people were living in Wales, an increase of 0.5% (16,700) by mid-2019.<sup>1</sup>
- The latest statistics published by the ONS in 2020, report older people aged 65 and over account for 21% of the population of Wales (668,590 people), the highest proportion of all UK countries.<sup>2</sup>
- All four UK countries have seen their population growth rate slow due to a combination of higher deaths and fewer births.<sup>3</sup>
- In the year to mid-2020, Wales's population increased at the fastest rate of UK countries, reflecting greater net migration from other countries and other parts of the UK.<sup>4</sup>
- Between 1998 and 2018, in Wales, the proportion of the population aged 65 and over increased from 17.4 per cent to 20.8 per cent (669,000), while the proportion of the population aged 0-15 and under fell from 20.6 per cent to 17.9 per cent (563,000).<sup>5</sup>

# 2 Older people aged 90+ (including centenarians)

Data from the Office for National Statistics<sup>6</sup> show that:

- In the UK, there were more than 600,000 people aged 90 years and over in 2019, an increase of 3.6% compared to 2018, from 584,024 to 605,181
- In 2019, Wales had the greatest proportion of both male and female centenarians in the UK with eight men aged 100 years and over per 100,000 men and 36 women aged 100 years and over per 100,000 women
- For every 100,000 people, there are 26 who have reached that milestone in Wales
- The number of people alive in the UK, at almost every age from 90 years and above, was higher in 2019 than in 2018, with the largest increase at age 99 years (62.2%), as a direct result of seasonal birth patterns after World War One
- In the UK, the number of male semi-supercentenarians (people aged 105 years and over) has more than doubled in the last decade, while the number of female semi-supercentenarians increased by around half.

# 3 Population in local authorities in Wales

Table 1: Mid-year population estimates (2020) by local authority in Wales, for all ages and persons aged 65 and over.<sup>7</sup> (\*Column of percentage data added by Age Cymru).

Area	All ages	Over	Percentage
	)	65s	aged 65+*
Blaenau Gwent	70,020	14,177	20.25%
Bridgend	147,539	30,168	20.45%
Cardiff	369,202	52,807	14.30%
Caerphilly	181,731	35,672	19.63%
Carmarthenshire	190,073	45,693	24.04%
Ceredigion	72,895	18,668	25.61%
Conwy	118,184	32,938	27.87%
Denbighshire	96,664	23,517	24.33%
Flintshire	156,847	33,294	21.23%
Gwynedd	125,171	28,562	22.82%
Isle of Anglesey	70,440	18,639	26.46%
Merthyr Tydfil	60,424	11,394	18.86%
Monmouthshire	95,164	24,340	25.58%
Neath Port Talbot	144,386	30,254	20.95%
Newport	156,447	26,654	17.04%
Pembrokeshire	126,751	33,169	26.17%
Powys	133,030	36,801	27.66%
Rhondda Cynon Taf	241,873	46,755	19.33%
Swansea	246,563	48,958	19.86%
Torfaen	94,832	19,543	20.61%
Vale of Glamorgan	135,295	28,838	21.31%
Wrexham	136,055	27,749	20.40%
Wales	3,169,586	668,590	21.09%

# 4 Population projections in Wales

2018-based National Population Projections for Wales<sup>8</sup> indicate that:

- The population of Wales is projected to increase by 2.7% to 3.22 million by 2028, and by 3.7% to 3.26 million by 2043
- The number of children aged under 16 is projected to decrease by 4.7% to 536,300 between 2018 and 2028
- The number of people aged 16-64 is projected to increase by 0.2% to 1,927,700 between 2018 and 2028
- The number of people aged 65 and over is projected to increase by 292,000 (44 per cent) between 2014 and 2039
- The number of people aged 75 and over is projected to increase by 29.3% to 378,100 between 2018 and 2028
- By 2030, it is projected that there will be over 1,008,000 older people in Wales 33% of the total population.<sup>9</sup>

# 5 Life expectancy

#### 5.1 At birth in Wales

- In Wales, life expectancy at birth is 78.3 years for men and 82.2 years for women, which is lower than the UK average by 0.9 years and 0.7 years respectively.<sup>10</sup>
- Between 2010 and 2017 the increase in life expectancy for men in Wales slowed considerably, with an average increase of only 0.5 years being recorded in this time. A similar pattern is identifiable for women with an average life expectancy increased by only 0.2 years.<sup>11</sup>
- Men living in the most deprived areas in Wales are expected to live for 73.6 years, but those living in the least deprived areas have a life expectancy of 82.4 years. Life expectancy for men living in the most deprived areas is 4.7 years lower than the average male life expectancy.<sup>12</sup>
- For the females living in the most deprived areas were expected to live up to 11 years more in a poorer state of health than their least deprived areas counterparts.<sup>13</sup>

Table 2: Life expectancy at birth (years) by local authority in Wales, 2017-2019.<sup>14</sup>

Local Authority	Life expectancy	Life expectancy	
	of males	of females	
Blaenau Gwent	76.5	80.4	
Bridgend	77.5	81.1	
Cardiff	78.4	83	
Caerphilly	77.8	81.4	
Carmarthenshire	78.3	82.4	
Ceredigion	79.3	84.1	
Conwy	78.8	82.4	
Denbighshire	78.8	81.1	
Flintshire	79.5	82.7	
Gwynedd	79.5	83	
Isle of Anglesey	79.6	83.3	
Merthyr Tydfil	76.8	80.7	
Monmouthshire	81.5	84.5	
Neath Port Talbot	77.1	81.3	
Newport	77.9	82.3	
Pembrokeshire	79.2	83	
Powys	80	83.7	
Rhondda Cynon Taf	77.5	81	
Swansea	77.7	82.5	
Torfaen	78.2	81.9	
Vale of Glamorgan	79.6	83.4	
Wrexham	78.3	81.4	
Wales	78.5	82.3	

### 5.2 Life expectancy at age 65 in Wales

In Wales, life expectancy for men and women aged 65 years in 2017 to 2019 was 18.3 and 20.7 years respectively. This means that men and women at this age could expect to live to reach their 83rd and 85th birthday respectively. 15

Table 3: Male and female life expectancy at age 65 (years) for local authorities in Wales, 2017-2019. 16

Local Authority	Age 65-year	Age 65-year
-	males	females
Blaenau Gwent	16.9	19.2
Bridgend	17.6	19.8
Cardiff	17.8	20.9
Caerphilly	17.7	20.1
Carmarthenshire	18.5	20.4
Ceredigion	19.5	22.4
Conwy	19.2	21.5
Denbighshire	18.1	19.8
Flintshire	18.9	20.9
Gwynedd	18.9	21.2
Isle of Anglesey	19.2	21.5
Merthyr Tydfil	17.4	19.2
Monmouthshire	20	21.9
Neath Port Talbot	17.5	20.1
Newport	17.7	20.2
Pembrokeshire	19.3	21.3
Powys	19.1	21.8
Rhondda Cynon Taf	17.7	19.7
Swansea	17.9	20.9
Torfaen	18.1	20.2
Vale of Glamorgan	18.7	21.6
Wrexham	18.7	20.1
Wales	18.3	20.7

# 6 Within the older population

# 6.1 Welsh language

# Welsh language profile

Table 4: Welsh language profile, unitary authorities in Wales. Percentage of people in Wales that can speak Welsh: i) aged 65-74, ii) aged 75 and over (2011 Census).<sup>17</sup>

Area	i) Can speak	ii) Can speak
	Welsh: age 65-	Welsh: age 75 and
	74 (percentage)	over (percentage)
Blaenau Gwent	1.5	1.1
Bridgend	4.3	6.2
Cardiff	5.4	4.7
Caerphilly	2.5	2.5
Carmarthenshire	45.3	52.8
Ceredigion	43.2	50.1
Conwy	21	23.3
Denbighshire	19.4	23.7
Flintshire	7	9.2
Gwynedd	55.6	60.7
Isle of Anglesey	47.6	51.8
Merthyr Tydfil	3.9	4.6
Monmouthshire	2.8	2.6
Neath Port Talbot	14	17.6
Newport	1.5	1.9
Pembrokeshire	15	16.1
Powys	13.3	16.5
Rhondda Cynon Taf	4.1	5.7
Swansea	11.8	14.1
Torfaen	2	1.9
Vale of Glamorgan	5.1	4.7
Wrexham	10	13.8
Wales	15.0	17.5

# Welsh language use

The most recent National Survey for Wales (2020)<sup>18</sup> shows that:

- In the year ending 31 December 2020, 29.1% of people aged three and over were able to speak Welsh. This number is equivalent to 883,600 people. This percentage decreases with age, from 21 per cent of 16- to 24-year-olds to 13 per cent of 65- to 74-year-olds.
- The percentage of people who are more comfortable with Welsh increases with age. 52 per cent of Welsh speakers aged 65 and over felt more confident speaking the Welsh language, compared with 39 per cent of Welsh speakers aged 16 to 24 years.

# 6.2 Diversity

- Data from the 2017-2019 Annual Population Survey show a higher percentage of over 60s answering 'don't know' or refuse to answer when asked about their sexuality (2.3%).<sup>19</sup>
- The limited data available in Wales shows that slightly fewer people aged 65 or over identify as gay/lesbian/bisexual/other when compared to the overall adult population.<sup>20</sup>
- The population of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic people in Wales aged 65 and over, is presented in Table 5.

Table 5: Population of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic People in Wales, age 65 and over (2011 Census).<sup>21</sup> (\*Percentage data added by Age Cymru).

All groups		Mixed/multiple ethnic group		Black British	Other ethnic group
562,544	556,459	1,526	2,998	975	586
	(*98.91%)	(*0.275%)	(*0.53%)	(*0.17%)	(*0.1%)

NB. There is newer ethnicity by age information available but it's not robust enough to publish for age 65+.

### 7 Loneliness

- Data from the 2019-20 National Survey for Wales found that around 15% people report being lonely in Wales. Data also show that people of working age 16 to 64 are more likely to be lonely, than those aged 65 or over .<sup>22</sup>
- Research by Age Cymru in 2017, suggests that 75,000 older people in Wales feel lonely, with almost half of those surveyed saying their television or a pet was their main companion.<sup>23</sup>
- More than 75% of women and a third of men over 65 live alone. People aged 80 and over are most likely to report high levels of loneliness.<sup>24</sup>
- Evidence to the inquiry into loneliness and isolation in Wales has highlighted disabled people, including those with unsupported hearing loss which is common in older people, experience higher levels of loneliness and isolation.<sup>25</sup>

#### Research by Age UK <sup>26</sup> in 2019 indicated that:

- More than 20,000 older people in Wales claim to have felt lonely during later life.
- 100,000 people aged 65 and over in Wales speak to three of fewer people they know each week.
- 330,000 older people in Wales claim a few minutes of conversation would make a huge difference to their week.

### 8 Fraud / Scams

- An older person in England and Wales becomes a victim of fraud every 40 seconds.<sup>27</sup>
- 85% of victims of doorstep scams are aged 65 and over.<sup>28</sup>
- In the UK, older people suffer twice the detriment that younger people do, and it's estimated that older victims lose on average £1,200 each.<sup>29</sup>
- Some older people lose their life savings, decimating their retirement income, while those defrauded in their own homes are more likely either to die or go into residential care within a year.<sup>30</sup>

### The Crime Survey for England and Wales 2017-18<sup>31</sup>, found that:

- Almost one in 12 (eight per cent) of respondents aged 65 and older reported being the victim of fraud in the last year – equivalent to more than 800,000 older people in England and Wales.
- People are now nearly three times more likely to be a victim of fraud than to be burgled and nearly 19 times more likely to be a victim of fraud than to be mugged.

# 9 Money matters, poverty and benefits

- 18% of pensioners in Wales were living in relative income poverty between 2017 and 2020.<sup>32</sup>
- Data from the National Survey for Wales (2017- 2018) show that older people tend to have lower incomes than those under the age of 60.<sup>33</sup>
- 1 in 3 of people aged 60-74 in Wales have incomes of less than £200 a week, or £10,400 a year.<sup>34</sup>
- Women are often poorer, with estimated 209,000 older women in Wales have a personal income of less than £10,400 a year.<sup>35</sup>
- Department for Work and Pensions estimates that between 32 and 38 percent of pensioners eligible to claim Pension Credit don't receive it.<sup>36</sup>
- Every year, it's estimated that up to £3.5 billion of state benefits in the UK goes unclaimed by older people.<sup>37</sup>
- Three quarters of older people report having no savings, just one in five have savings of up to £20,000, and only 2% have savings of £20,000 or more.<sup>38</sup>

# 9.1. Fuel poverty

In Wales, a household is defined as being in fuel poverty if they would have to spend more than 10% of their income on maintaining a satisfactory heating regime. Any household having to spend more than 20% is defined as being in severe fuel poverty.<sup>39</sup>

The most recent fuel poverty estimates for Wales by Welsh Government, report:40

- 155,000 households in Wales were living in fuel poverty. This is equivalent to 12% of all households in Wales
- Of these households, 32,000 were living in severe fuel poverty, equivalent to 2% of households
- Households in fuel poverty in 2018 were dominated by pensioner households and single person households. The single pensioner (without children) group was the most common household type among all fuel poor households (29%)
- Households in fuel poverty are generally older. Of all fuel poor households, 26% contained a Household Reference Person (HRP) aged over 75 and 43% contained an HRP aged 65 or over
- Households living in the private rented sector were more likely to be fuel poor with 20% of these households living in fuel poverty
- Households living in older properties are more likely to be fuel poor. 20% of households living in pre-1919 dwellings were fuel poor

- 21% of households living in properties with uninsulated solid walls were fuel poor and 39% of people living in properties that do not have central heating were fuel poor
- 43% of households living in properties with poorer energy efficiency (EPC Bands F and G) were fuel poor compared to 5% of households living in properties in bands B to C.

# 10 Economic contribution and employment

- The employment rate for people aged 16 to 64 in Wales was 72.8%, down 0.3 percentage points on the previous year. The UK rate was 75.3%, down 0.4 percentage points over the year. 41
- In the UK, the proportion of people over the age of 50 in employment has risen over the last 20 years. The employment rate among people aged 50-64 has risen from 60% to around 73% since the year 2000. One in three workers are now aged 50 or older.<sup>42</sup>
- Older people make a significant contribution in Wales as volunteers, worth £483 million per year to the Welsh economy.<sup>43</sup>

#### 11 Health

#### 11.1 General health issues

According to the National survey for Wales, 44 in 2019-20:

- 13% of people aged 65 and over in Wales say their health is bad or very bad.<sup>45</sup>
- 71% of older people aged 65 and over had a long-term illness.
- 31% of people aged 65 and over have heart and circulatory complaints.

# 11.2 Ageing well

- Although advancing age is associated with physical and cognitive decline, in the UK wellbeing is consistently found to be higher in later life than among young or middle-aged adults.<sup>46</sup>
- English Longitudinal Survey of Ageing suggests women aged 80 and over are the most vulnerable group for wellbeing, showing lower levels of life satisfaction and greater levels of depressive symptoms.<sup>47</sup>
- Among older people (65 and over), the pattern of wellbeing can be further divided and suggests high levels of wellbeing in the early post-retirement years, followed by lower levels of wellbeing in later old age (75 and over).<sup>48</sup>
- There is a small but significant effect of exercise on mental wellbeing, suggesting exercise can improve wellbeing in adults aged 65 and over.<sup>49</sup>

- After age 40, people start losing muscle at a rate of 1% a year, thus increasing the risk of heart attacks, falls, stroke and osteoporosis. A recent research study found that older adults who did strength training twice a week lived longer and had fewer illness than those who did none.<sup>50</sup>
- Research suggests that people who take part in activities that stimulate the brain are less likely to develop dementia, compared with those who do not engage in these activities.<sup>51</sup>
- According to the Index of Wellbeing in Later Life by Age UK, engagement in creative and cultural activities makes the highest contribution of 5.75 per cent to one's overall wellbeing.<sup>52</sup>

#### 11.3 Health in later life

- An estimated 4 million older adults in the UK (36% of people aged 65-74, and 47% of those aged 75+) have a limiting long-standing illness; equating to 40% of all people aged 65+.<sup>53</sup>
- In the UK, men aged 50 and over in the poorest quintile of the population are twice as likely as those in the wealthiest quintile to have Type 2 diabetes; the poorest women are three times as likely as the wealthiest women.<sup>54</sup>
- In the UK, 1 in 3 adults aged over 65 with an alcohol problem developed this
  problem in later life. Frequently reported reasons among older adults for starting
  to drink more include retirement, bereavement, loss of purpose, lack of
  socialising opportunities and changes in financial circumstances.<sup>55</sup>
- The proportion of people in the UK with multi-morbidities among those aged 65-74 is 46%. This proportion increases to 69% among those aged 85+.<sup>56</sup>
- Older people are disproportionately represented in malnourished groups; 43% of UK malnutrition cases are people aged 65+, equating to around 1.3 million people. Consequently, malnourished older adults are twice as likely to visit their GP, have more hospital admissions, longer stays in hospitals and have more ill health.<sup>57</sup>

According to the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing<sup>58</sup>, in the UK:

- Almost 1 in 10 (8%) of men between the ages of 55-59 struggle with activities of daily living, rising to over a third of men (37%) aged 80 and over. The corresponding figures for women are 11% and 36%, respectively.
- Those aged 50 and over in the poorest quintile of the population are almost four times more likely than those in the wealthiest quintile to experience difficulties performing at least one activity of daily living. For men it's 34% compared to 9%, and for women it's 41% compared to 13%.

# 11.4 Eyesight

In Wales 1,455 people were newly certified as sight impaired in 2017-18; more than 52% of these were aged 80 years or over.<sup>59</sup>

# 11.5 Hearing

According to the latest statistics for Sensory health<sup>60</sup> in Wales:

- 19% of adults reported having difficulty with their hearing in 2018-19.
- The likelihood of hearing difficulties increases with age (known as gradual hearing loss) with 20 per cent of 75+ year old having hearing difficulties.
- More than 60 per cent of people who had some form of hearing difficulty had never tried a hearing aid.

# 11.6 Musculoskeletal conditions (MSK)

MSK conditions are a group of conditions that affect the bones, joints, muscles, and spine, and are a common cause of severe long-term pain and physical disability.<sup>61</sup>

- Musculoskeletal (MSK) conditions such as arthritis and back pain affected an estimated 18.8 million people across the UK in 2017. They accounted for more than 22% of the total burden of ill health (morbidity) in the UK, and low back and neck were the biggest cause of ill health overall across all ages.<sup>62</sup>
- The prevalence of MSK conditions in the Wales, all ages, 2017: 29.3% (887,000).<sup>63</sup>
- A recent study found that 33.9% of older adults (over 50) with MSK pain also have persistent anxiety issues and 22% have a persistent depression problem.
   Mental health also has an impact on a person's ability to deal with an MSK problem.<sup>64</sup>
- Many people living with MSK conditions have other health conditions (comorbidities) that occur alongside their MSK conditions.
- In 2018 to 2019, MSK conditions were the most commonly reported (15%) among adults in Wales.<sup>65</sup>
- The risk of MSK conditions increases with age. A global study showed that 59.8% of people aged 65-74 year olds are living with an MSK condition, which rises to 62.6% for 75-84 year olds and falls to 60% for those aged 85+.66
- In Wales 50% of adults (16+) reporting a long-term MSK condition are inactive.
   Inactive people are at increased risk of developing a painful MSK condition.
   Exercise generally reduces overall pain for people with a MSK condition.<sup>67</sup>

#### **11.7 Falls**

- Every year in Wales between 230,000 and 460,000 older people fall.<sup>68</sup>
- According to Public Health Wales forecasting, in 2021 more than 700 older people in Wales will die from a fall, with a further 7,750 requiring hospital-based treatment. It also predicts that more than 132,000 older people in Wales will fall more than once in their home.<sup>69</sup>
- In the UK, people aged 65 and older have the highest risk of falling; around a third of people aged 65 and over, and around half of people aged 80 and over, fall at least once a year.<sup>70</sup>
- A survey commissioned by Age UK has found that millions of older people are worried about falling, with 4.3 million (36%) saying it topped their list of concerns.<sup>71</sup>
- Falls are the most common cause of injury related deaths in people over the age of 75.<sup>72</sup>
- Falling is a cause of distress, pain, injury, loss of confidence, loss of independence and mortality.<sup>73</sup>

#### 12 Dementia

- In 2019-2020, there were 22,686 people with a diagnosis for dementia in Wales.<sup>74</sup>
- In 2019, there were more than 850,000 people with dementia in the UK. This represents 1 in every 14 of the population aged 65 years and over.<sup>75</sup>
- In 2040, it's estimated that there will be more than 1.5 million people with dementia in the UK.<sup>76</sup>
- Deaths due to dementia and Alzheimer's disease are the leading cause of death in England and Wales, accounting for more than 67,000 deaths and 12.8 per cent of all deaths registered.<sup>77</sup>
- More women are affected by dementia than men.<sup>78</sup>
- Although risk of dementia increases with age, dementia is caused by diseases of the brain, not age alone.<sup>79</sup>
- Regarding health conditions, 92 per cent of people living with dementia have at least one other health condition and 45 per cent have four or more other health conditions.<sup>80</sup>

#### 13 End of life care

End of life care is support for people who are in the last months or years of their life. End of life care includes palliative care. Is about improving the quality of life of anyone facing a life-threatening condition.<sup>81</sup>

- It's estimated that 0.75% (23,000) of the general population in Wales is in need of palliative care at any time and the number of people who die each year continues to rise.<sup>82</sup>
- By 2040, the demand for palliative care is estimated to increase by 42% in England and Wales.<sup>83</sup>
- People access palliative care services late or not at all, either because they anticipate stigma or discrimination, or they think the service is not for them.<sup>84</sup>
- Anecdotal evidence suggests that palliative and end of life care services may not always ensure LGBTQ+ patients and their families have the same spiritual needs addressed at end of life as any other patient.<sup>85</sup>
- In the UK, three in five older gay people are not confident that social care and support services will be able to understand and meet their needs.<sup>86</sup>
- At the UK level, only 8 per cent of those caring for someone at the end of life have received a formal Carer's assessment.<sup>87</sup>
- Over half of deaths from cancer in Wales take place in hospital, yet most people say this is the place they would least like to be.<sup>88</sup>

# **14 Winter mortality**

 COVID-19 was the leading cause of excess winter mortality in 2020 to 2021, accounting for 82.9% (Wales) of all excess winter deaths.<sup>89</sup> [Updated November 2021].

# 15 Age discrimination

- Polling by Age UK in 2017 found that, in the UK, 36% of over 50s felt they had been disadvantaged at work because of their age.<sup>90</sup>
- A survey focused on Wales, carried out on behalf of the Older People's Commissioner for Wales in 2019, found that around 66,000 older people in Wales (8%) reported that they have been made to feel too old to receive health services.<sup>91</sup>
- A report by the Women and Equalities Committee into older people and employment, found that groups of older job seekers living in the UK felt that age discrimination was a regular occurrence.<sup>92</sup>
- In the UK, the number of age discrimination complaints to employment tribunals increased by 74% in 2020.<sup>93</sup>

#### 16 Older carers

- In 2019, it was an estimated that there were 400,000 adult carers in Wales.<sup>94</sup>
- Nearly three in five carers in England and Wales are aged 50 years and over, and one in five people aged 50 to 69 years are informal carers.<sup>95</sup>
- The peak age for caring in the UK is estimated to be between 45 and 64; the number of those aged 65 or over providing care is increasing more rapidly than the increase among the general population.<sup>96</sup>
- It's estimated that by 2037 there will be more than half a million carers in Wales, a 40% rise on current levels.<sup>97</sup>
- Every year in Wales more than 123,140 adults become carers and almost the same number will cease to become carers.<sup>98</sup>
- 103,594 people in Wales provide more than 50 hours of unpaid care per week.<sup>99</sup>
- Carers Wales state that there are more than 370,000 unpaid carers of all ages providing care worth around £8.1 billion to the Welsh economy each year. 100
- More than 16% of older carers care for more than one person. This is most common for people aged between 60 and 75, where a significant number are caring for a parent, as well as an adult child, grandchild or other person with a disability or long-term illness.<sup>101</sup>

A polling published in 2019 by Carers UK has suggested that: 102

- Two-thirds of carers (66%) have focused on the care needs of the person they care for, not their own needs.
- Almost half (45%) of carers say that they are struggling to make ends meet.
- More than half (56%) of carers who are receiving Carer's Allowance say they are struggling to make ends meet.
- 51% of carers said that they are not able to save for their retirement.

Age Cymru and Carers Trust Wales recently published the 'For the Moment' 103 report of survey responses from more than 300 older unpaid carers, which showed that:

- 89% of carers that responded to the survey said that they had not been offered a carers assessment and 48% said that they needed support.
- For the 48% who said they needed support, access to advice and information, help at home, respite and emotional support were among their top requests.
- 51% of respondents said they have not tried to access support either because they
  don't know what's available, are reluctant to seek external help for either themselves
  of the person they care for, or don't have the time. Others said that they feel that the
  care they provide is a natural part of family life.

# 17 Abuse of older people

- In 2019 more than 280,000 people aged 60 to 74 were reported as experiencing domestic abuse in England and Wales.<sup>104</sup>
- It's estimated that the total number of older people in Wales experiencing domestic abuse is a staggering 40,000.<sup>105</sup>
- Until 2017, the Crime Survey for England & Wales did not include domestic abuse statistics for those over the age of 59 years. Although the age limit for those who participate in the survey was increased to 74 years of age it's expected that the estimate is much higher, and many older people remain suffering in silence.<sup>106</sup>
- Older people living with dementia are at a higher risk of abuse due to their impaired ability to seek help, advocate for themselves or remove themselves from potentially abusive situations.<sup>107</sup>
- Disability is also known to increase the likelihood of a person experiencing abuse.<sup>108</sup>

#### 18 Access to services

#### 18.1 Access to community services

The Community Calculator is a survey launched by Age Cymru that presents an overview of the strengths and weaknesses of communities across Wales when viewed through the eyes of older people.

Collated results from the 2020 Community calculator survey revealed that: 109

- Public toilets were found to be the worst scoring element in local communities, with more than half of the respondents scoring their community three or less out of 10. The lack of public toilet facilities was the key factor. Issues were also raised over the cleanliness and accessibility of facilities and limited opening hours
- Older people expressed that their voices were not heard locally, with more than a
  third of respondents scoring their community three or less out of 10. Some older
  people felt excluded from online consultations which they were unable to access.
   Some respondents felt that forums helped to enable people's voices to be heard
- More than a third of respondents rated the pavements in their community a score
  of three or less. Uneven pavements and brick pavements that are slippery when
  wet were seen as hazardous. Pavements obstructed with parked cars, bins and
  street furniture restricted access for wheelchairs and mobility scooters. Problems
  with dog fouling and litter were also highlighted
- 22.9% of respondents rated public seating and places to rest a score of three or less, with a general lack of public seating in communities being a key issue

- 63.4% of respondents rated local services in their community a score of seven or above. Some respondents felt they lived in well serviced areas and vibrant communities, with good access to essential services. For others, however, access to money was a pressing concern (loss of banks and post offices), along with the closure of GP surgeries, libraries and shops
- A key issue raised in terms of health and social services was the difficulty in accessing GP appointments and healthcare services. Issues were raised over the quality of some social services, and that more support was needed for carers.
- Several older people told us that they do not feel safe in their communities.
   Concerns were raised over a lack of police presence and fears of anti-social behaviour and crime. Speeding traffic and a lack of safe facilities for crossing roads were also highlighted, along with poor street lighting.

Table 6) The average score for each local authority across all ten elements included in the survey.<sup>110</sup>

Element of an age friendly community	Average score in Wales (out of 10)
Public toilets	3.30
Your voice	4.54
Pavements	4.60
Public seating and places to rest	5.52
Neighbourhood safety	5.84
Information and advice	6.20
Health and social services	6.53
Places to meet	6.55
Public transport	6.62
Local services	6.88

### 18.2 Advocacy services

Advocacy is an important service for older people suffering abuse, or who have been abused. Age Cymru's research into advocacy provision for older people in Wales in 2020<sup>111</sup> found:

- There has continued to be a decrease in the number of advocacy services (from 13 to 12) specifically for older people
- There has been an 85% rise in services providing advocacy to a wider client group. The increase is from 41 to 76 services
- There are fewer advocates delivering advocacy specifically to older people (from 37 to 31)
- 523 fewer older people were supported by advocacy services funded specifically for older people than in 2016. This is a drop of 31%
- The total number of people supported across all advocacy services in Wales over 12 months rose by 62% to 16,909
- Services specifically funded for older people remain in only 15 of the 22 local authority areas in Wales. Services for a wider client group continue to cover all local authorities.

### 18.3 Experience of GP and hospital services

- In the National Survey of Wales 2018/19, difficulty getting through on the phone
  was reported by 53 per cent of respondents, with 55 per cent reporting that they
  needed to make an early morning call to do so.<sup>112</sup>
- A survey conducted in Wales, with people with hearing loss, found that 29 per cent had to ask someone else to make an appointment by phone on their behalf and 36 per cent had to travel to the GP practice to do so.<sup>113</sup>
- Another survey conducted in Wales by Bevan Foundation, found that a
  substantial minority of older people in the survey 36 per cent said that they
  were not usually happy to answer questions when they attempted to book an
  appointment. People were most comfortable if they perceived the questioner to
  be appropriately experienced or qualified. Others said they were happy to explain
  their reasons if they were offered privacy to do so.<sup>114</sup>

The National Survey for Wales (2019/2020) reported that:115

- People who had a GP appointment in the last 12 months when asked how easy or difficult it was to get a convenient appointment, 25% found it very difficult and 18% fairly difficult to make a convenient appointment.
- People aged 75 and over were found to be more satisfied with the care they received from their GP (75%) than people aged between 16 to 24 (61%).

 People aged 75 and over tended to be more satisfied with the hospital care they received (79%) compared with people aged 16-24 who tended to be the least satisfied with the hospital care they received (63%).

#### 18.4 Residential care

- In 2019 there were 16,144 people over 65 living in care homes in Wales. 10,610 were in homes without nursing; 5,534 in a home with nursing care. 116
- In Wales, the average age at which an older person moves to a care home is nearly 83 years, and people stay in care homes for an average of 869 days, just over 2 years and 4 months.<sup>117</sup>

An analysis for the future of care in Wales by Cardiff University (2020)<sup>118</sup> cites:

- The number of people supported through formal care services has not kept pace with the growth in the over-65s population; residential care numbers have barely changed in a decade.
- Although future demand for formal care cannot simply be linked to the growth in the over- 75 and over-85 cohorts, projected growth in the numbers of older people with complex care needs (including severe dementia) is highly likely to result in increased pressure on formal care services – the number of older adults living with severe dementia is expected to double to 53,700 by 2040.

# 18.5 Transport

- The number of bus drivers and vehicles in Wales in operation increased in 2017-18, after a long-term downward trend.<sup>119</sup>
- Evidence from the report 'Is Wales Fairer?' (2018) shows that public transport in Wales often does not meet the needs of older and disabled people. Half of rail stations in Wales, for example, are not fully accessible to disabled people, with 34% having no access for wheelchair users.<sup>120</sup>
- The number of older people eligible for free bus travel in Wales by 2034 is expected to increase by more than a million people. 121
- In a survey conducted by Age Cymru, older adults raised concerns about the frequency and reliability of bus services and the lack of bus and community transport in the evenings.<sup>122</sup>

# 18.6 Digital inclusion

Data from the National Survey for Wales (2018-2019) show that: 123

- 98% of those aged 16-49 used the internet compared with 49% of those aged 75 or older.
- 49% of people aged 75 or over were internet users in 2018-19, up from 22% in 2012-13. Some of this increase is likely explained by previously younger internet

- users now falling within the older cohorts, together with new users accessing the internet for the first time.
- 90% of men used the internet, compared with 87% of women. This difference mainly occurs in the 65 and over age group. 69% of men aged 65+ use the internet, compared with 62% of women.

### 18.7 Housing

- The majority of people over 65 in Wales are homeowners. 2011 Census data show that 77.6% of people over the age of 65 in Wales owned or had shared ownership of their property (this includes ownership with a mortgage and part owned, part rented). The Census data also revealed that 8.8% of people over the age of 65 in Wales had a social rented tenure and 6.5% were living in the private rented sector or living rent free.<sup>124</sup>
- The current housing supply in Wales does not reflect the lifestyle choices that people want or need as they age.<sup>125</sup>

#### 19 COVID-19

#### 19.1 Access to information about COVID-19

Recent polling by Age Cymru on older people's experiences during the lockdown in Wales found that: 126

- TV news was the most popular source of information with 82% of people getting their information that way followed by 64% of people sourcing information through various online methods.
- 2% of people told us they didn't receive regular information about the pandemic.
- 43% of respondents said that they were happy with communications, but some felt that the frequent changes and different ways in which information was circulated could be unhelpful at times.
- 20% of those who expressed an opinion felt that information provided should be simpler and clearer.

# 19.2 Mental and physical health

- For people with terminal illness, lockdown and social distancing policies have caused high levels of isolation and loneliness.<sup>127</sup>
- In the UK, those aged 75 years and over were almost twice as likely as those aged 16 to 24 years to report high anxiety during lockdown; analysis of data prior to lockdown suggests anxiety tends to be lowest among those aged from their mid to late 60s, remaining relatively stable in later years.<sup>128</sup>

• The survey undertaken by Age Cymru found that for 87% of the respondents, not seeing family and friends was their biggest challenge followed by the impact on emotional health (51%), loneliness (37%) and physical health (35%). 129

A recent survey conducted by Public Health Wales reported that: 130

- 43 per cent felt that their fitness levels had worsened since the start of the pandemic.
- 65 per cent of adults now report feeling happy, an increase from only 48 per cent in January 2021.

#### 19.3 Health and social care

- Enforced isolation had exacerbated many of the existing challenges older people face in accessing essential goods, healthcare and other services.<sup>131</sup>
- In Wales, the total numbers able to access routine services are only at about 35% of 2019-20 levels, because of the need to put in place measures to prevent infection spread between patients.<sup>132</sup>
- Recent modelling for Wales suggests that due to COVID-19, in 2021 there is a
  potential increase in demand for primary care mental health services of up to
  40%, which could translate into some 31,000 referrals. Additional demand in
  hospital services could see an increase of up to 25%, translating into some
  10,000 referrals.<sup>133</sup>
- In Wales, 70% of older people had difficulty accessing health services during pandemic.<sup>134</sup>

# 19.4 Abuse of older people

- In the UK, the lockdown increased the risk of older people experiencing domestic abuse, especially in relation to financial or care dependencies and barriers to reporting abuse.<sup>135</sup>
- Hourglass commissioned surveys in January and June 2020 found that 1 in 5 UK residents surveyed (22%) had personal experience of abuse as an older person aged 65+ or knew an older person who had been abused. Hourglass suggested this indicated almost 2.7 million older people may have been affected by domestic abuse across the UK in 2020. It also found 53% of those surveyed believed that the abuse and neglect of older people had increased as a result of lockdown.<sup>136</sup>
- At the start of the first lockdown, Hourglass revealed that more than 1 in 3 people do not believe that 'acts of domestic violence directed towards an older person' count as abuse.<sup>137</sup>

#### 19.5 Unpaid older carers

- It's estimated that the value of care provided by unpaid carers in Wales between March and November 2020 alone amounted to £8.4 billion, which is indicative of a substantial amount of care provided, yet unpaid carers face burnout due to exhaustion and mental health difficulties brought about by the situation and a lack of support.<sup>138</sup>
- Carers UK has identified that unpaid carers have been particularly vulnerable to the direct and indirect impacts of COVID-19, suffering a sustained period of increased levels of stress and anxiety, and exposure to the virus.<sup>139</sup>
- In the UK, 81% of carers report that they are providing more care since the beginning of the pandemic, and 78% report that the needs of the person for whom they care have increased.<sup>140</sup>
- 64% of carers in the UK, said that they have not been able to have breaks from caring, and that their mental health has declined during the pandemic.<sup>141</sup>

A recent survey conducted by Age UK<sup>142</sup>, found that:

- 49% of older carers (around 1.1 million) have less energy since the start of the pandemic
- 35% of older carers (nearly 800,000) cannot walk as far since the start of the pandemic
- 38% of older carers (nearly 860,000) are in more physical pain since the start of the pandemic
- Carers have felt physically cut off from important sources of support, such as friends and family members
- Levels of stress, anxiety and depression have increased for many during the pandemic. Fear of the cared-for person becoming infected with COVID-19 has been an added pressure.

### 19.6 Working from home

Recent research by the Office for National Statistics<sup>143</sup> revealed that in the UK:

- The proportion of older workers who are planning to work from home following the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is higher than the proportion who worked from home prior to the pandemic, suggesting any benefit may persist
- In June and July 2020, those who were working entirely from home were more likely to say they were planning to retire later (11%) compared with those not working from home (5%)

- Those with a long-standing illness, disability or infirmity who work from home were also more likely to say they are now planning to retire later (10.9%) compared with those not working from home (4.9%)
- Characteristics of those who exit the labour market early and older workers who
  did not switch to working from home during the pandemic were similar; they tend
  to have poorer health, lower well-being, live in deprived areas and have lower or
  no qualifications
- In April to May 2021, older workers aged 50 to 69 years who were working from home reported that it improved their work life balance and well-being.

### 19.7 Older people affected by dementia

- There is emerging evidence to suggest that dementia itself may increase risk of severe symptoms of COVID-19 and death when age and other conditions are taken into account.<sup>144,145</sup>
- Data from the Office for National Statistics shows that 27.5% of people whose death certificate mentioned COVID-19 from March to June in England and Wales had dementia.<sup>146</sup>
- 13,840 deaths of people with dementia involving COVID-19 in England and Wales were recorded from March to June 2020, making dementia the most common pre-existing condition in deaths involving COVID-19. This is a hugely disproportionate impact on people with dementia who should have been protected.<sup>147</sup>
- 75% of care homes surveyed by the Alzheimer's Society said that GPs were reluctant to visit residents.<sup>148</sup>
- The national dementia diagnosis rate has declined steadily since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, dropping from 67.6% in February 2020 to 62.1% in July 2021.<sup>149</sup> <sup>150</sup>
- Emerging findings from the Alzheimer's Society based in the UK suggest that during the period of lockdown, people affected by dementia living in the community were experiencing an increased sense of loneliness and/or of being socially isolated.<sup>151</sup>

### References

1 1

- <sup>3</sup> Office for National Statistics. (2021). Population estimates for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland: mid-2020. Available at: <a href="https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpopulationestimates/latest#age-structure-of-the-uk-population [Accessed 12 July 2021].</a>
- <sup>4</sup> Office for National Statistics. (2021). Population estimates for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland: mid-2020. Available at: <a href="https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpopulationestimates/latest#age-structure-of-the-uk-population} [Accessed 12 July 2021].
- <sup>5</sup> Welsh Government. (2021). Statistical First Release: Summary statistics for Wales, by region: 2020. Available at: <a href="https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf">https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf</a> [Accessed 12 July 2021]
- <sup>6</sup> Office for national Statistics. (2020). Estimates of the very old, including centenarians, UK: 2002 to 2019. Available at <a href="https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/ageing/bulletins/estimatesoftheveryoldincludingcentenarians/latest">https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/ageing/bulletins/estimatesoftheveryoldincludingcentenarians/latest</a> [Accessed July 12, 2021]
- <sup>7</sup> Welsh Government. (2021). StatsWales: Population estimates by local authority and age. Stats Wales. Available at <a href="https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority/populationestimates-by-localauthority-age">https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority/populationestimates-by-localauthority-age</a> [Accessed July 12, 2021]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Welsh Government. (2021). Statistical First Release: Summary statistics for Wales, by region: 2020. Available at: <a href="https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf">https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf</a> [Accessed 12 July 2021]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Welsh Government. (2021). Statistical First Release: Summary statistics for Wales, by region: 2020. Available at: <a href="https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf">https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf</a> [Accessed 30 August 2021]

- Office for National Statistics. (2019). Health state life expectancies by national deprivation deciles, England and Wales: 2015 to 2017, 27 March 2019. Available at: <a href="https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimd/2015to2017">https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimd/2015to2017</a>
  [Accessed July 12, 2021]
- Office for National Statistics. (2019). Health state life expectancies by national deprivation deciles, England and Wales: 2015 to 2017, 27 March 2019. Available at: <a href="https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimd/2015to2017">https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimd/2015to2017</a>
  [Accessed July 12, 2021]
- Office for National Statistics. (2019). Health state life expectancies by national deprivation deciles, England and Wales: 2015 to 2017, 27 March 2019. Available at: <a href="https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimd/2015to2017">https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthinequalities/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesbyindexofmultipledeprivationimd/2015to2017</a>
   [Accessed August 08, 2021]
- Office for National Statistics. (2018). Health state life expectancies, UK: 2015 to 2017. Available at: <a href="https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesuk/2015to2017">https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/healthstatelifeexpectanciesuk/2015to2017</a> [Accessed August 08, 2021]
- Office for National Statistics. (2020). Life expectancy for local areas of the UK: between 2001 to 2003 and 2017 to 2019. Available at <a href="https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/lifeexpectancyforlocalareasoftheuk/between2001to2003and2017to2019">https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/lifeexpectancyforlocalareasoftheuk/between2001to2003and2017to2019</a> [Accessed August 08, 2021]
- <sup>15</sup> InfoBaseCymru. (2018). Life expectancy. Available at <a href="http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/themes/healthandsocialcare/generalhealth/tabular?viewId=47&geoId=1&subsetId="[Accessed August 08, 2021]</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Welsh Government. (2019). National population projections: 2018-based. Available at https://gov.wales/national-population-projections-2018-based [Accessed July 12, 2021]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The Older People's Commissioner for Wales. (2019). State of the Nation: An overview of growing older in Wales. Available at <a href="https://www.olderpeoplewales.com/Libraries/Uploads/State">https://www.olderpeoplewales.com/Libraries/Uploads/State</a> of the Nation e - <a href="mailto:online.sflb.ashx">online.sflb.ashx</a> [Accessed July 12, 2021]

- Welsh Government. (2012). Welsh speakers by local authority and broader age groups, 2001 and 2011 census. Stats Wales. Available at <a href="https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language/Census-Welsh-Language/welshspeakers-by-la-broaderage-2001and2011census">https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language/Census-Welsh-Language/welshspeakers-by-la-broaderage-2001and2011census</a> [Accessed August 09, 2021]
- <sup>18</sup> Welsh Government. (2021) National Survey for Wales: results viewer Available at <a href="https://gov.wales/national-survey-wales-results-viewer">https://gov.wales/national-survey-wales-results-viewer</a> [Accessed August 08, 2021]
- <sup>19</sup> Welsh Government. (2020). StatsWales: Sexual identity by age. Available at <a href="https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Sexual-Orientation/sexualidentity-by-age-year-identitystatus">https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Sexual-Orientation/sexualidentity-by-age-year-identitystatus</a> [Accessed August 08, 2021]
- <sup>20</sup> Welsh Government. (2020). StatsWales: Sexual identity by age. Available at <a href="https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Sexual-Orientation/sexualidentity-by-age-year-identitystatus">https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Sexual-Orientation/sexualidentity-by-age-year-identitystatus</a> [Accessed August 08, 2021]

<sup>21</sup> Nomis. (2011). LC2101EW - Ethnic group by sex by age. Available at

- <u>Data Viewer Nomis Official Labour Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk)</u> [Accessed August 08, 2021]
- Welsh Government. (2020). Loneliness (National Survey for Wales): April 2019 to March 2020. Available at: <a href="https://gov.wales/loneliness-national-survey-wales-april-2019-march-2020-html">https://gov.wales/loneliness-national-survey-wales-april-2019-march-2020-html</a> [Accessed July 28, 2021]
- <sup>23</sup> Age UK. (2017). Age Cymru | No one should have no one tackling isolation and loneliness in Wales. Available at: <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/cymru/our-impact/policy-publications/no-one-should-have-no-one---tackling-loneliness/">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/cymru/our-impact/policy-publications/no-one-should-have-no-one---tackling-loneliness/</a> [Accessed July 28, 2021]
- <sup>24</sup> National Assembly for Wales. (2017). Health, Social Care and Sport Committee: Inquiry into loneliness and isolation. Available at: <a href="https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld11310/cr-ld11310-e.pdf">https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld11310/cr-ld11310-e.pdf</a> [Accessed July 28, 2021]
- <sup>25</sup> National Assembly for Wales. (2017). Health, Social Care and Sport Committee: Inquiry into Ioneliness and isolation. Available at:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> InfoBaseCymru. (2018). Life expectancy. Available at <a href="http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/themes/healthandsocialcare/generalhealth/tabular?viewld=47&geold=1&subsetId="[Accessed August 08, 2021]">http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/themes/healthandsocialcare/generalhealth/tabular?viewld=47&geold=1&subsetId="[Accessed August 08, 2021]</a>

https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld11310/cr-ld11310-e.pdf [Accessed July 28, 2021]

- <sup>26</sup> Age Cymru. (2019). Help us tackle loneliness. Available at:

  <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/cymru/get-involved/help-us-tackle-loneliness/">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/cymru/get-involved/help-us-tackle-loneliness/</a>

  [Accessed July 28, 2021]
- <sup>27</sup> Age UK. (2018). Older person becomes fraud victim every 40 seconds. Available at: <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2019/july/older-person-becomes-fraud-victim-every-40-seconds/">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2019/july/older-person-becomes-fraud-victim-every-40-seconds/</a> [Accessed July 28, 2021]
- <sup>28</sup> Age UK. (2018). Doorstep scams. Available at: <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/northern-ireland/information-advice/money-matters/scams-fraud/doorstep-scams/">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/northern-ireland/information-advice/money-matters/scams-fraud/doorstep-scams/</a> [Accessed July 30, 2021]
- <sup>29</sup> Age Cymru. (2018). Wales Against Scams Partnership (WASP). Available at: https://www.ageuk.org.uk/cymru/our-impact/policy/wales-against-scams-partnership [Accessed July 28, 2021]
- <sup>30</sup> Age UK. (2018). Older person becomes fraud victim every 40 seconds. Available at: <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2019/july/older-person-becomes-fraud-victim-every-40-seconds/">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2019/july/older-person-becomes-fraud-victim-every-40-seconds/</a> [Accessed July 28, 2021]
- Office for National Statistics. (2019) Crime in England and Wales: year ending December 2018. Available at <a href="https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingdecember2018">https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingdecember2018</a> [Accessed June 28, 2021]
- <sup>32</sup> Welsh Government. (2021). Relative income poverty. <a href="https://gov.wales/relative-income-poverty-april-2019-march-2020-html">https://gov.wales/relative-income-poverty-april-2019-march-2020-html</a>
- <sup>33</sup> Office for National Statistics. (2019). National Survey for Wales, 2017-2018. Available at <a href="https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-02/national-survey-wales-2017-18-poverty-deprivation.pdf">https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-02/national-survey-wales-2017-18-poverty-deprivation.pdf</a>
- Older People's Commissioner for Wales. (2019). State of the Nation: An overview of growing older in Wales. Available at <a href="https://www.olderpeoplewales.com/Libraries/Uploads/State\_of\_the\_Nation\_e\_-online.sflb.ashx">https://www.olderpeoplewales.com/Libraries/Uploads/State\_of\_the\_Nation\_e\_-online.sflb.ashx</a>
- <sup>35</sup> Older People's Commissioner for Wales. (2019). State of the Nation: An overview of growing older in Wales. Available at

https://www.olderpeoplewales.com/Libraries/Uploads/State\_of\_the\_Nation\_e\_online.sflb.ashx

- <sup>36</sup> Age Cymru. (2020). EnvisAge: Spotlight on the financial inclusion of older people. Available at https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-cymru/documents/policy/envisage/envisage14\_english\_web.pdf
- <sup>37</sup> Independent Age. (2019). Credit where it's due: Ending the £3.5 billion Pension Credit scandal. Available at <a href="https://independent-age-assets.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2019-07/Credit%20where%20its%20due%20report\_0.pdf">https://independent-age-assets.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2019-07/Credit%20where%20its%20due%20report\_0.pdf</a>
- <sup>38</sup> Welsh Government. (2013). Strategy for Older People in Wales (2013-2023).

Living Longer, Ageing Well. Strategy Delivery Plan. Available at: <a href="https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/strategy-for-older-people-in-wales-2013-2023-delivery-plan.pdf">https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/strategy-for-older-people-in-wales-2013-2023-delivery-plan.pdf</a>

- <sup>39</sup> Statistics Wales (2019) Fuel poverty estimates for Wales, 2018: revised. Statistical Bulletin. 13/12/2019. <a href="https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-12/fuel-poverty-estimates-wales-2018.pdf">https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-12/fuel-poverty-estimates-wales-2018.pdf</a>
- <sup>40</sup> Statistics Wales (2019) Fuel poverty estimates for Wales, 2018: revised. Statistical Bulletin. 13/12/2019. <a href="https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-12/fuel-poverty-estimates-wales-2018.pdf">https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-12/fuel-poverty-estimates-wales-2018.pdf</a>
- <sup>41</sup> Welsh Government. (2021). Labour market statistics (Annual Population Survey): 2020. Available at: <a href="https://gov.wales/labour-market-statistics-annual-population-survey-2020">https://gov.wales/labour-market-statistics-annual-population-survey-2020</a> [Accessed July 29, 2021]
- <sup>42</sup> Centre for Ageing Better. (2020). The State of Ageing in 2020 captures a snapshot of how people in the UK are ageing today, while looking at past trends and our prospects if action isn't taken. Available at: <a href="https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/summary-state-ageing-2020">https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/summary-state-ageing-2020</a> [Accessed July 29, 2021].
- <sup>43</sup> Edwards. R; Spencer, L; Bryning, L; Anthony, B (2018). Living well for longer: The economic argument for investing in the health and wellbeing of older people in Wales. Available at: <a href="https://cheme.bangor.ac.uk/documents/livingwell2018.pdf">https://cheme.bangor.ac.uk/documents/livingwell2018.pdf</a>
- <sup>44</sup> StatsWales. (2020). General health and illness by age and gender. Available at <a href="https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Population-">https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Population-</a>

<u>Health/Adult-general-health-and-illness/genhealthillness-by-age-gender</u> [Accessed September 3, 2021].

- <sup>45</sup> Welsh Government. (2020). General health and illness by age and gender. Available at <a href="https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Population-Health/Adult-general-health-and-illness/genhealthillness-by-age-gender">https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Population-Health/Adult-general-health-and-illness/genhealthillness-by-age-gender</a> [Accessed August 30, 2021].
- <sup>46</sup> Department of Health. (2014). A compendium of factsheets: wellbeing across the life course: the relationship between wellbeing and health. Available at https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachmen t\_data/file/277575/Living\_Well.pdf
- <sup>47</sup> Steptoe, Demakakos & de Oliverira. (2012). The psychological wellbeing and health functioning of older people in England. The Dynamics of Ageing: Evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing 2002-10
- <sup>48</sup> Chanfreau, J., Lloyd, C., Byron, C., Roberts, C., Craig, R., De Feo, D., & McManus, S. (2013). Predicting Wellbeing. Prepared by NatCen Social Research for the Department of Health. Available at <a href="http://www.natcen.ac.uk/media/205352/predictors-of-wellbeing.pdf">http://www.natcen.ac.uk/media/205352/predictors-of-wellbeing.pdf</a>
- <sup>49</sup> Self, A., Thomas, J. and Randall, C. (2012). Measuring National Wellbeing: Life in the UK, 2012. London: ONS
- <sup>50</sup> Kraschnewski, J.L., Sciamanna, C.N., Poger, J.M., Rovniak, L.S., Lehman, E.B., Cooper, A.B., Ballentine, N.H. and Ciccolo, J.T. (2016). Is strength training associated with mortality benefits? A 15-year cohort study of US older adults. Preventive Medicine, 87, pp.121–127.
- <sup>51</sup> Stuart, A. (2020). Brain Exercises and Dementia. WebMD. Available at: <a href="https://www.webmd.com/alzheimers/guide/preventing-dementia-brain-exercises">https://www.webmd.com/alzheimers/guide/preventing-dementia-brain-exercises</a>
- <sup>52</sup> Age UK. (2020). A summary of Age UK's Index of Wellbeing in Later Life. Available at: <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/health--wellbeing/ageuk-wellbeing-index-summary-web.pdf">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/health--wellbeing/ageuk-wellbeing-index-summary-web.pdf</a>
- <sup>53</sup> Horsfield, J. (2017). Later Life in the United Kingdom Too old to care?

- <sup>55</sup> Drink Wise Age Well. (2019). Evaluation of the Drink Wise, Age Well Programme: 2015 to 2020. Available at https://drinkwiseagewell.org.uk/
- <sup>56</sup> Kingston, A., Robinson, L., Booth, H., Knapp, M., & Jagger, C. (2018). Projections of multi-morbidity in the older population in England to 2035: estimates from the Population Ageing and Care Simulation (PACSim) model. Age and Ageing, 47(3), 374–380. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afx201
- <sup>57</sup> BAPEN. (2018). Introduction to Malnutrition. Available at: <a href="https://www.bapen.org.uk/malnutrition-undernutrition/introduction-to-malnutrition">https://www.bapen.org.uk/malnutrition-undernutrition/introduction-to-malnutrition</a>. [Accessed August 17, 2021]
- <sup>58</sup> J. Abell and N. Amin- Smith et. Al. (2018). The Dynamics of Ageing: Evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing, Wave 8: 2002-2016. Available at: <a href="https://ifs.org.uk/uploads/ELSA\_Wave\_8\_report.pdf">https://ifs.org.uk/uploads/ELSA\_Wave\_8\_report.pdf</a>
- <sup>59</sup> Welsh Government. (2019). Sensory health (eye care and hearing statistics): April 2017 to March 2019. Available at: <a href="https://gov.wales/sensory-health-eye-care-and-hearing-statistics-april-2017-march-2019">https://gov.wales/sensory-health-eye-care-and-hearing-statistics-april-2017-march-2019</a> [Accessed July 29, 2021]
- <sup>60</sup> Welsh Government. (2019). Sensory health (eye care and hearing statistics): April 2017 to March 2019. Available at: <a href="https://gov.wales/sensory-health-eye-care-and-hearing-statistics-april-2017-march-2019">https://gov.wales/sensory-health-eye-care-and-hearing-statistics-april-2017-march-2019</a> [Accessed July 29, 2021]
- <sup>61</sup> Public Health England. (2019). *Musculoskeletal Health: applying All Our Health*. Available at: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/musculoskeletal-health-applying-all-our-health/musculoskeletal-health-applying-all-our-health">https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/musculoskeletal-health-applying-all-our-health</a>. [Accessed August 12, 2021]
- Versus arthritis. (2019). The state of Musculoskeletal health. Available at: <a href="https://www.versusarthritis.org/media/14594/state-of-musculoskeletal-health-2019.pdf">https://www.versusarthritis.org/media/14594/state-of-musculoskeletal-health-2019.pdf</a> [Accessed August 12, 2021]
- <sup>63</sup> Public Health England (2019). *Musculoskeletal Health: applying All Our Health*. Available at: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/musculoskeletal-health-applying-all-our-health/musculoskeletal-health-applying-all-our-health">https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/musculoskeletal-health-applying-all-our-health</a>. [Accessed August 12, 2021]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Centre for Ageing Better. (2019). The state of ageing in 2019: Adding life to our years. Available at: <a href="http://www.ageing-better.org.uk/sites/default/files/2019-11/The-State-of-Ageing-2019-Adding-life-to-our-years.pdf">http://www.ageing-better.org.uk/sites/default/files/2019-11/The-State-of-Ageing-2019-Adding-life-to-our-years.pdf</a>

- <sup>65</sup> Versus arthritis. (2019). The state of Musculoskeletal health. Available at: https://www.versusarthritis.org/media/14594/state-of-musculoskeletal-health-2019.pdf [Accessed August 12, 2021]
- <sup>66</sup> Global Burden of Disease Collaborative Network. Global Burden of Disease Study 2019 (GBD 2019) Results. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), Seattle, 2020.
- <sup>67</sup> Versus arthritis. (2019). The state of Musculoskeletal health. Available at: https://www.versusarthritis.org/media/14594/state-of-musculoskeletal-health-2019.pdf [Accessed August 12, 2021]
- <sup>68</sup> Age UK. (2019). Falls in later life: a huge concern for older people. Available at: <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2019/may/falls-in-later-life-a-huge-concern-for-older-people/">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2019/may/falls-in-later-life-a-huge-concern-for-older-people/</a>. [Accessed July 29, 2021]
- <sup>69</sup> Age Connects Wales. (2021). Falls amongst older people can have a devastating impact but they are not an inevitable part of ageing Available at: <a href="https://www.ageconnectswales.org.uk/fallsawareness">https://www.ageconnectswales.org.uk/fallsawareness</a> [Accessed July 30, 2021].
- <sup>70</sup> Public Health England. (2020). Falls: applying All Our Health. Available at: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/falls-applying-all-our-health/falls-applying-all-our
- <sup>71</sup> Age UK. (2019). Falls in later life: a huge concern for older people. Available at: <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2019/may/falls-in-later-life-a-huge-concern-for-older-people/">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2019/may/falls-in-later-life-a-huge-concern-for-older-people/</a>. [Accessed July 29, 2021]
- <sup>72</sup> Age UK. (2019). Falls in later life: a huge concern for older people. Available at: <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2019/may/falls-in-later-life-a-huge-concern-for-older-people/">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2019/may/falls-in-later-life-a-huge-concern-for-older-people/</a> [Accessed July 29, 2021]
- <sup>73</sup> Public Health England. (2020). Falls: applying All Our Health. Available at: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/falls-applying-all-our-health/falls-applying-all-our

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Public Health England. (2019). *Musculoskeletal Health: applying All Our Health*. Available at: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/musculoskeletal-health-applying-all-our-health/musculoskeletal-health-applying-all-our-health">https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/musculoskeletal-health-applying-all-our-health</a>. [Accessed August 12, 2021]

- <sup>77</sup> Office for National Statistics. (2021). Deaths registered in England and Wales: 2020 Available at:
- https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsregistrationsummarytables/2020 [Accessed July 29, 2021]
- <sup>78</sup> Alzheimer's Society. (2018). Why is dementia different for women? Available at: <a href="https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/blog/why-dementia-different-women">https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/blog/why-dementia-different-women</a>. [Accessed July 29, 2021]
- <sup>79</sup> Alzheimer's Society. (2018). Why is dementia different for women? Available at: <a href="https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/blog/why-dementia-different-women">https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/blog/why-dementia-different-women</a>. [Accessed July 29, 2021]
- <sup>80</sup> Browne, J; Edwards, D; Rhodes,K; Brimicombe, D; Payne, R. (2017). Association of comorbidity and health service usage among patients with dementia in the UK: a population-based study. BMJ Open. 7:e012546. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012546
- <sup>81</sup> NHS. (2018). What end of life care involves: End of life care. Available at <a href="https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/end-of-life-care/what-it-involves-and-when-it-starts/">https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/end-of-life-care/what-it-involves-and-when-it-starts/</a> [Accessed August 16, 2021]
- <sup>82</sup> Welsh Government. (2017). Palliative and End of Life Care Delivery Plan. Available at <a href="https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-01/palliative-and-end-of-life-care-delivery-plan-2017\_0.pdf">https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-01/palliative-and-end-of-life-care-delivery-plan-2017\_0.pdf</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Welsh Government. (2021). StatsWales: Quality Assurance and Improvement Framework (QAIF) disease registers by local health board, cluster and GP practice. Available at: <a href="https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/NHS-Primary-and-Community-Activity/GMS-Contract/qualityassuranceandimprovementframeworkqaifdiseaseregisters-by-localhealthboard-cluster-gppractice [Accessed July 30, 2021].</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Alzheimer's Society. (2020). *Alzheimer's Society's view on demography*. Available at: <a href="https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-us/policy-and-influencing/what-we-think/demography">https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-us/policy-and-influencing/what-we-think/demography</a> [Accessed July 29, 2021]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Alzheimer's Society. (2020). *Alzheimer's Society's view on demography*. Available at: <a href="https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-us/policy-and-influencing/what-we-think/demography">https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-us/policy-and-influencing/what-we-think/demography</a> [Accessed July 29, 2021]

- <sup>83</sup> Marie Curie. (2021). Improving care and support for dying people in Wales. Available at <a href="https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/blog/better-end-of-life-report-2021-wales/293194">https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/blog/better-end-of-life-report-2021-wales/293194</a> [Accessed August 16, 2021]
- <sup>84</sup> Marie Curie. (2016) "Hiding who I am". The reality of end-of-life care for LGBT people. Available at <a href="https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/globalassets/media/documents/policy/policy-publications/june-2016/reality-end-of-life-care-lgbt-people.pdf">https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/globalassets/media/documents/policy/policy-publications/june-2016/reality-end-of-life-care-lgbt-people.pdf</a>
- Marie Curie. (2016) "Hiding who I am". The reality of end-of-life care for LGBT people. Available at <a href="https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/globalassets/media/documents/policy/policy-publications/june-2016/reality-end-of-life-care-lgbt-people.pdf">https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/globalassets/media/documents/policy/policy-publications/june-2016/reality-end-of-life-care-lgbt-people.pdf</a>
- <sup>86</sup> Marie Curie. (2021). Improving care and support for dying people in Wales. Available at <a href="https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/blog/better-end-of-life-report-2021-wales/293194">https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/blog/better-end-of-life-report-2021-wales/293194</a> [Accessed August 16, 2021]
- Wales Cancer Alliance. (2017). Palliative and End of Life Care. A Wales Cancer Alliance Policy Paper. Available at <a href="https://walescanceralliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Palliative---End-of-Life-Care">https://walescanceralliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Palliative---End-of-Life-Care</a> .pdf
- <sup>88</sup> Wales Cancer Alliance. (2017). Palliative and End of Life Care. A Wales Cancer Alliance Policy Paper. Available at <a href="https://walescanceralliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Palliative---End-of-Life-Care">https://walescanceralliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Palliative---End-of-Life-Care</a>. pdf
- <sup>89</sup> Office for National Statistics. (2021). Excess winter mortality in England and Wales: 2020 to 2021 (provisional) and 2019 to 2020 (final). Available at: <a href="https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/excesswintermortalityinenglandandwales/2020to2021provisionaland2019to2020final">https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/excesswintermortalityinenglandandwales/2020to2021provisionaland2019to2020final</a>
- <sup>90</sup> Age UK. (2018). Ageism and Age Equality: Great Britain. Available at: <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/policy-positions/cross-cutting-issues/ageism-and-age-equality-pp-great-britain-august-2018.pdf">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/policy-positions/cross-cutting-issues/ageism-and-age-equality-pp-great-britain-august-2018.pdf</a>
- <sup>91</sup> The Older People's Commissioner for Wales. (2019). State of the Nation: An overview of growing older in Wales. Available at <a href="https://www.olderpeoplewales.com/Libraries/Uploads/State\_of\_the\_Nation\_e\_-online.sflb.ashx">https://www.olderpeoplewales.com/Libraries/Uploads/State\_of\_the\_Nation\_e\_-online.sflb.ashx</a> [Accessed August 23, 2021]
- <sup>92</sup> House of Commons. (2018). Older people and employment Fourth Report of Session 2017-19 Report, together with formal minutes relating to the report by authority of the

House of Commons. (2018). [Available at: <a href="https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmwomeq/359/359.pdf">https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmwomeq/359/359.pdf</a>

- <sup>93</sup> Ministry of Justice. (2020). Official statistics: Tribunal Statistics Quarterly, April to June 202. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/tribunal-statistics-quarterly-april-to-june-2020/tribunal-statistics-quarterly-april-to-june-2020 [Accessed July 31, 2021].
- <sup>94</sup> Carers Wales. (2019). Press Release: Wales' unpaid carers suffering anxiety and stress. Available at: <a href="https://www.carersuk.org/wales/news-campaigns/news/press-release-wales-unpaid-carers-suffering-anxiety-and-stress">https://www.carersuk.org/wales/news-campaigns/news/press-release-wales-unpaid-carers-suffering-anxiety-and-stress</a>. [Accessed August 15, 2021].
- Office for National Statistics. (2019). Living longer: caring in later working life. Available at: <a href="https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/ageing/articles/livinglongerhowourpopulationischangingandwhyitmatters/2019-03-15">https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/ageing/articles/livinglongerhowourpopulationischangingandwhyitmatters/2019-03-15</a> [Accessed July 29, 2021].
- <sup>96</sup> Age Cymru. (2019). Public Policy Statement Carers. Available at: https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-cymru/documents/policy/public-policy-statements/carers-policy-statement---august-2019.pdf
- <sup>97</sup> CarersUK. (2017). Carers Wales Evidence Submission: Welsh Policy Forum Policy Commission on Welsh Carers. Available at: <a href="https://www.carersuk.org/help-and-advice/practical-support/managing-someone-s-affairs/66-wales/news/5796-carers-wales-evidence-submission-welsh-policy-commission-policy-commission-on-welsh-carers</a>
- <sup>98</sup> CarersUK. (2017). Carers Wales Evidence Submission: Welsh Policy Forum Policy Commission on Welsh Carers. Available at: <a href="https://www.carersuk.org/help-and-advice/practical-support/managing-someone-s-affairs/66-wales/news/5796-carers-wales-evidence-submission-welsh-policy-commission-policy-commission-on-welsh-carers</a>
- <sup>99</sup> CarersUK. (2017). Carers Wales Evidence Submission: Welsh Policy Forum Policy Commission on Welsh Carers. Available at: <a href="https://www.carersuk.org/help-and-advice/practical-support/managing-someone-s-affairs/66-wales/news/5796-carers-wales-evidence-submission-welsh-policy-commission-policy-commission-on-welsh-carers.">https://www.carersuk.org/help-and-advice/practical-support/managing-someone-s-affairs/66-wales/news/5796-carers-wales-evidence-submission-welsh-policy-commission-policy-commission-on-welsh-carers.</a>
- <sup>100</sup> Burrows, D; Smith-Lyttleton, J; Sheehan, L; Jones, S. (2021). Voices of Carers during the COVID-19 Pandemic: Messages for the future of unpaid caring in Wales.

Available at <a href="https://phw.nhs.wales/publications/publications1/voices-of-carers-during-the-covid-19-pandemic-messages-for-the-future-of-unpaid-caring-in-wales/">https://phw.nhs.wales/publications/publications1/voices-of-carers-during-the-covid-19-pandemic-messages-for-the-future-of-unpaid-caring-in-wales/</a>

- Age UK. (2020). 280,000 people aged 60 to 74 experienced domestic abuse. [online] Available at: <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2020/04/280000-people-aged-60-to-74-experienced-domestic-abuse/#\_ftn1">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2020/04/280000-people-aged-60-to-74-experienced-domestic-abuse/#\_ftn1</a> [Accessed August 15, 2021].
- <sup>102</sup> Carers Wales. (2019). State of Caring. Available at: <a href="https://www.carersuk.org/files/section/6239/carers-wales-state-of-caring-2019-final.pdf">https://www.carersuk.org/files/section/6239/carers-wales-state-of-caring-2019-final.pdf</a>
- Age Cymru and Carers Trust Wales. (2021). For the Moment. Available at: <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/cymru/our-work/carers/for-the-moment---summary-of-findings-from-older-carers/">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/cymru/our-work/carers/for-the-moment---summary-of-findings-from-older-carers/</a>
- Age UK. (2020). 280,000 people aged 60 to 74 experienced domestic abuse. [online] Available at: <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2020/04/280000-people-aged-60-to-74-experienced-domestic-abuse/#\_ftn1">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2020/04/280000-people-aged-60-to-74-experienced-domestic-abuse/#\_ftn1</a> [Accessed July 31, 2021].
- <sup>105</sup> Senedd Cymru. (2021). Petitions: Senedd: Transforming the response for older people experiencing domestic abuse a call for action. Available at: <a href="https://petitions.senedd.wales/petitions/1397">https://petitions.senedd.wales/petitions/1397</a> [Accessed July 31, 2021].
- Age UK. (2020). 280,000 people aged 60 to 74 experienced domestic abuse. [online] Available at: <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2020/04/280000-people-aged-60-to-74-experienced-domestic-abuse/#\_ftn1">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/latest-press/articles/2020/04/280000-people-aged-60-to-74-experienced-domestic-abuse/#\_ftn1</a> [Accessed July 31, 2021].
- <sup>107</sup> Senedd Cymru. (2021). Petitions: Senedd: Transforming the response for older people experiencing domestic abuse a call for action. Available at: <a href="https://petitions.senedd.wales/petitions/1397">https://petitions.senedd.wales/petitions/1397</a> [Accessed July 31, 2021].
- Senedd Cymru. (2021). Petitions: Senedd: Transforming the response for older people experiencing domestic abuse a call for action. Available at: <a href="https://petitions.senedd.wales/petitions/1397">https://petitions.senedd.wales/petitions/1397</a> [Accessed July 31, 2021].
- <sup>109</sup> Age Cymru. (2020). Key findings of the Community Calculator. Available at: <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-cymru/documents/policy/community-calculator-2020/community-calculator---english.pdf">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-cymru/documents/policy/community-calculator---english.pdf</a>
- <sup>110</sup> Age Cymru. (2020). Key findings of the Community Calculator. Available at: <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-cymru/documents/policy/community-calculator---english.pdf">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-cymru/documents/policy/community-calculator---english.pdf</a>

- 111 Age Cymru. (2020). Advocacy Counts 7. Available at https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-cymru/documents/hope-project/age-cymru-advocacy-counts-7e1.pdf
- <sup>112</sup> Clay, H. and Stern, R. (2015) Making time in general practice. Primary Care Foundation. Available at <a href="http://www.gpone.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1000/Making-Time-in-General-Practice-FULL-REPORT-01-10-15.pdf">http://www.gpone.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1000/Making-Time-in-General-Practice-FULL-REPORT-01-10-15.pdf</a> [Accessed August 22, 2021]
- <sup>113</sup> Action on Hearing Loss CYMRU. (2018). Good Practice? Why people in Wales who are deaf or have hearing loss are still not getting accessible information from their GP. Available at <a href="https://rnid.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/Good-Practice-Wales.pdf">https://rnid.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/Good-Practice-Wales.pdf</a>
- Bevan Foundation. (2019). Access to GP services by older people. Available at <a href="https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/access-to-gp-services-by-older-people/">https://www.bevanfoundation.org/resources/access-to-gp-services-by-older-people/</a>
   Welsh Government. (2021). National Survey for Wales: April 2019 to March 2020. [online] Available at: <a href="https://gov.wales/national-survey-wales-april-2019-march-2020">https://gov.wales/national-survey-wales-april-2019-march-2020</a>
- <sup>116</sup> Welsh Government. (2019), Adults receiving services by local authority and age group. Available at: https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Adult-Services/Service-Provision/adultsreceivingservices-by-localauthorityagegroup [Accessed August 16, 2021]
- <sup>117</sup> Welsh Government. (2019), Quantitative social services performance measures Adults. Available at: https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/ Performance-Measures/quantitativesocialservicesperformanceadults-by-measures [Accessed August 16, 2021]
- <sup>118</sup> Siô, C; Michael, T. (2020). The future of care in Wales: Resourcing social care for older adults. Available at <a href="https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/">https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/</a> data/assets/pdf\_file/0019/2427400/social\_care\_final2\_aug2\_0.pdf
- <sup>119</sup> Welsh Government. (2019). Statistical Bulletin: Public service vehicles (buses and taxis), Key points. (2019). Available at: <a href="https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-03/public-service-vehicles-buses-and-taxis-april-2017-to-march-2018\_0.pdf">https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-03/public-service-vehicles-buses-and-taxis-april-2017-to-march-2018\_0.pdf</a>.
- <sup>120</sup> Equality and Human Rights Commission. (2018). Is Wales Fairer? The state of equality and human rights 2018. Available at:

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/is-britain-fairer-2018-is-wales-fairer.pdf

<sup>121</sup> Government Office for Science. (2019). Inequalities in Mobility and Access in the UK Transport System: Evidence Review Foresight, Government Office for Science. Available at:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachmen t\_data/file/784685/future\_of\_mobility\_access.pdf

- Age Cymru. (2020). Key findings of the Community Calculator. Available at: https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-cymru/documents/policy/community-calculator-2020/community-calculator---english.pdf
- <sup>123</sup> Welsh Government. (2019). Statistical Bulletin: National Survey for Wales, 2018-19 Internet use and digital skills. Available at: <a href="https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-09/internet-use-and-digital-skills-national-survey-wales-april-2018-march-2019-207.pdf">https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-09/internet-use-and-digital-skills-national-survey-wales-april-2018-march-2019-207.pdf</a>.
- <sup>124</sup> Public Policy Institute for Wales. (2015). Housing for Older People in Wales: An Evidence Review. Available at <a href="http://www.ageingwellinwales.com/Libraries/Documents/Housing-for-Older-People-in-Wales-Evidence-Review.pdf">http://www.ageingwellinwales.com/Libraries/Documents/Housing-for-Older-People-in-Wales-Evidence-Review.pdf</a>
- <sup>125</sup> Welsh Government. (2021). Assessment of the demand for specialist housing and accommodation for older people in Wales: Report from the Welsh Government. Available at <a href="https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-01/independent-report-on-accommodation-for-older-people.pdf">https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-01/independent-report-on-accommodation-for-older-people.pdf</a>
- <sup>126</sup> Age Cymru. (2021). Experiences of people aged 50 or over in Wales during the winter Covid-19 lockdown, and the road to recovery. Available at <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-cymru/documents/covid-19-survey/covid-survey-report---english-final.pdf">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-cymru/documents/covid-19-survey/covid-survey-report---english-final.pdf</a>
- <sup>127</sup> Marie Curie. (2021) The Better End of Life Report 2021. Available at https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/policy/better-end-life-report [Accessed August 23, 2021]
- <sup>128</sup> Office for National Statistics. (2020). Coronavirus and anxiety, Great Britain: 3 April 2020 to 10 May 2020. Available at <a href="https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/coronavirusa">https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/coronavirusa</a> ndanxietygreatbritain/3april2020to10may2020 [Accessed August 23, 2021]

- <sup>129</sup> Age Cymru. (2021). Experiences of people aged 50 or over in Wales during the winter Covid-19 lockdown, and the road to recovery. Available at <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-cymru/documents/covid-19-survey/covid-survey-report---english-final.pdf">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-cymru/documents/covid-19-survey/covid-survey-report---english-final.pdf</a>
- <sup>130</sup> Public Health Wales. (2021). Survey reveals people's mental and physical health declined during pandemic. Available at <a href="https://phw.nhs.wales/news/survey-reveals-peoples-mental-and-physical-health-declined-during-pandemic/">https://phw.nhs.wales/news/survey-reveals-peoples-mental-and-physical-health-declined-during-pandemic/</a> [Accessed August 23, 2021]
- Age UK. (2020). COVID-19: the impact on the human rights of older people. Available at <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/equality-and-human-rights/older-people-and-human-rights-during-the-covid-19-pandemic.pdf">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/equality-and-human-rights/older-people-and-human-rights-during-the-covid-19-pandemic.pdf</a>
- Welsh Government. (2021). Health and Social Care in Wales COVID-19: Looking forward. Available at <a href="https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/health-and-social-care-in-wales--covid-19-looking-forward\_0.pdf">https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/health-and-social-care-in-wales--covid-19-looking-forward\_0.pdf</a>
- Welsh Government. (2021). Health and Social Care in Wales COVID-19: Looking forward. Available at <a href="https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/health-and-social-care-in-wales--covid-19-looking-forward\_0.pdf">https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/health-and-social-care-in-wales--covid-19-looking-forward\_0.pdf</a>
- <sup>134</sup> Age Cymru. (2020). 70% of older people had difficulty accessing health services during pandemic. Available at <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/cymru/latest-news/70-of-older-people-had-difficulty-accessing-health-services-during-pandemic/">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/cymru/latest-news/70-of-older-people-had-difficulty-accessing-health-services-during-pandemic/</a> [Accessed August 23, 2021]
- <sup>135</sup> Age UK. (2020). COVID-19: the impact on the human rights of older people. Available at <a href="https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/equality-and-human-rights/older-people-and-human-rights-during-the-covid-19-pandemic.pdf">https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/equality-and-human-rights/older-people-and-human-rights-during-the-covid-19-pandemic.pdf</a>
- <sup>136</sup> Hourglass. (2021). Response to domestic abuse bill. Available at <a href="https://wearehourglass.org/sites/default/files/inline-files/Hourglass%20-%20Response%20to%20Domestic%20Abuse%20Bill.pdf">https://wearehourglass.org/sites/default/files/inline-files/Hourglass%20-%20Response%20to%20Domestic%20Abuse%20Bill.pdf</a>
- <sup>137</sup> Hourglass. (2021). Response to domestic abuse bill. Available at <a href="https://wearehourglass.org/sites/default/files/inline-files/Hourglass%20-%20Response%20to%20Domestic%20Abuse%20Bill.pdf">https://wearehourglass.org/sites/default/files/inline-files/Hourglass%20-%20Response%20to%20Domestic%20Abuse%20Bill.pdf</a>

- <sup>138</sup> Burrows, D; Lyttleton-Smith, J; Sheehan, L; Jones, S. (2021). Voices of Carers during the COVID-19 Pandemic: Messages for the future of unpaid caring in Wales. Available at https://phw.nhs.wales/publications/publications1/voices-of-carers-during-the-covid-19-pandemic-messages-for-the-future-of-unpaid-caring-in-wales/
- <sup>139</sup> Carers UK. (2020). Caring Behind Closed Doors: Six months on. Available at <a href="https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/caring-behind-closed-doors-six-months-on">https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/caring-behind-closed-doors-six-months-on</a> [Accessed August 23, 2021]
- <sup>140</sup> Carers UK. (2020). Caring Behind Closed Doors: Six months on. Available at <a href="https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/caring-behind-closed-doors-six-months-on">https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/caring-behind-closed-doors-six-months-on</a> [Accessed August 23, 2021]
- <sup>141</sup> Carers UK. (2020). Caring Behind Closed Doors: Six months on. Available at <a href="https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/caring-behind-closed-doors-six-months-on">https://www.carersuk.org/for-professionals/policy/policy-library/caring-behind-closed-doors-six-months-on</a> [Accessed August 23, 2021]
- Age UK. (2021). Impact of Covid-19 on older people's mental and physical health: one year on. Available at https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/health-wellbeing/coronavirus/impact-of-covid-19-on-older-peoples-health\_one-year-on.pdf
- Office for National Statistics. (2021). Living longer: impact of working from home on older workers. Available at <a href="https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/ageing/articles/livinglongerimpactofworkingfromhomeonolderworkers/2021-08-25#increased-working-from-home-and-its-impact-on-older-workers [Accessed August 28, 2021]</p>
- <sup>144</sup> Docherty, Annemarie B et al. (2020). Features of 16,749 hospitalised UK patients with COVID-19 using the ISARIC WHO Clinical Characterisation Protocol. Available at <a href="https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.04.23.20076042v1.article-info">https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.04.23.20076042v1.article-info</a>
- <sup>145</sup> The OpenSAFELY Collaborative. (2020). OpenSAFELY: factors associated with COVID-19-related hospital death in the linked electronic health records of 17 million adult NHS patients. Available at <a href="https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.05.06.20092999v1.article-info">https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.05.06.20092999v1.article-info</a>
- Office for National Statistics. (2020). Deaths involving COVID-19, England and Wales: deaths occurring in June 2020 (2020). Available at: <a href="https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deat">https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deat</a>

hs/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19englandandwales/deathsoccurringinjune2020 [Accessed September 06, 2021]

- <sup>147</sup> Alzheimer's Society. (2020). Worst hit: dementia during coronavirus. Available at <a href="https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/Worst-hit-Dementia-during-coronavirus-report.pdf">https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/Worst-hit-Dementia-during-coronavirus-report.pdf</a>
- <sup>148</sup> Alzheimer's Society. (2020). Care homes 'left to fend for themselves' against coronavirus. Available at <a href="https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/news/2020-05-13/care-homes-left-fend-themselves-against-coronavirus">https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/news/2020-05-13/care-homes-left-fend-themselves-against-coronavirus</a> [Accessed September 06, 2021]
- <sup>149</sup> NHS Digital. (2020). Recorded Dementia Diagnoses February 2020. Available at https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/recorded-dementia-diagnoses/february-2020 [Accessed September 07, 2021]
- <sup>150</sup> NHS Digital. (2021). Recorded Dementia Diagnoses July 2021. Available at <a href="https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/recorded-dementia-diagnoses/july-2021">https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/recorded-dementia-diagnoses/july-2021</a> [Accessed September 07, 2021]
- <sup>151</sup> Alzheimer's Society. (2020). Worst hit: dementia during coronavirus. Available at <a href="https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/Worst-hit-Dementia-during-coronavirus-report.pdf">https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-09/Worst-hit-Dementia-during-coronavirus-report.pdf</a>

Age Cymru is a registered charity 1128436. Company limited by guarantee and registered in Wales and England 6837284. Registered office address Ground Floor, Mariners House, Trident Court, East Moors Road, Cardiff CF24 5TD. ©Age Cymru 2021